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          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Good Morning.

          3  Welcome to the Committee on Rules, Privileges and

          4  Elections.  I am Council Member Leroy Comrie and I

          5  Chair the Committee.

          6                 Before we begin, I just want to make

          7  a pre explanation there are a lot of things going on

          8  this morning, press conferences that members were

          9  committed to, other Committee meetings and other

         10  issues that people are working on day- to- day. But

         11  since we have a person here that would like to speak

         12  on this issue from the Women's City Club and we

         13  don't have a quorum to vote, I would like to let her

         14  speak since she is here and she's graced us with her

         15  presence this morning.  Ms. Marjorie Kelleher Shea.

         16                 MS. SHEA: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  Well, if

         18  you would like to give your testimony now please.

         19                 MS. SHEA: Okay.  I represent the

         20  Women's City Club of New York City, a group that

         21  started to get the vote for women way back in 1915

         22  and so we are very concerned about the voters of New

         23  York City and how the vote is taken.  And so we urge

         24  the City Council Committee, and I know that you and

         25  your staff has given the candidates many of the same
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          2  questions that we have on the important questions

          3  that are going to come before the Board of Elections

          4  in the next four or five years.

          5                 We have to fully implement the HAVA

          6  voting requirements and they are going to change how

          7  New Yorkers vote. Implement a new voter registration

          8  requirement. Some of them are already in place.

          9  Address the counting of absentee and provisional,

         10  what we in new York State call affidavit ballots.

         11  As you know, just as an aside, up in Westchester

         12  County right now they are scrutinizing ballots,

         13  paper ballots, in a close vote.

         14                 So, what the Commissioner is doing,

         15  the rules that they put in place are extremely

         16  important for the citizens and the voters and we've

         17  urged the Commissioners to improve the training and

         18  the management of the 30,000 election day poll

         19  workers.  We say, create a user friendly website.

         20  That website should provide electronic information,

         21  it should have a Poll Finder Program so that a voter

         22  can punch in their address and returned would be

         23  their poll site.

         24                 In this past election, too many

         25  people did not know where their poll site is and
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          2  it's getting more and more important because under

          3  the Federal Legislation if you are not at the right

          4  poll site in New York City, some places upstate it's

          5  in right ED, and you go into vote and you do it by

          6  provisional ballot.  That is thrown out.  It is not

          7  counted.  So it's extremely important that the

          8  Commissioners put into place good rules and that

          9  they supervise the implementation of those rules

         10  And of course the big 800 pound gorilla in all this

         11  is the replacement of the Shoup 3.2 electronic

         12  voting machines.

         13                 And so we emphasize the importance of

         14  these positions and we also ask the Council and the

         15  Council Members to use your influence to have the

         16  State Legislature pass legislation laws so that New

         17  York City can get federal funds to purchase new

         18  voting systems. New York City tax payers should not

         19  have to pay the full cost of those machines.

         20                 So, with that we welcome the

         21  reappointment of these two Commissioners and value

         22  their experience on the Board of Elections.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Are you saying

         24  you like these two or are you saying --

         25                 MS. SHEA: Women's City Club does not
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          2  take positions on personal appointments.  We do

          3  value appointments where you have people who are

          4  experienced, people who attend, show up and attend

          5  the regular Commissioner's Meetings every Tuesday at

          6  1:30 and who supervise within their counties the

          7  Boards of Elections, in this case in Kings County

          8  and in Queens County.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  Thank you.

         10                 Do you believe it's possible that

         11  they can implement and set up new machines by 2006?

         12                 MS. SHEA: No. Nobody does.  The only

         13  thing we can hope is that the legislature will

         14  reconvene that HAVA Conference Committee that they

         15  had in place, break out of that gridlock in Albany

         16  and get us some standards so that we can go ahead

         17  and choose a system and begin to phase it in in New

         18  York City.  It's crucial, it's important, but the

         19  first thing we have to do is to write the contract.

         20  Localities all over the State are working on this

         21  right now.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  What do

         23  you recommend here, do you have any specifics on

         24  improving the training of Election Day poll workers?

         25                 MS. SHEA: Yes.  That whole system
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          2  needs to be looked at.  Next year 2005, you won't

          3  need as many as we had this year, Election Day poll

          4  workers.  We will probably only need about 28,000.

          5  But we are talking about a workforce that is

          6  supervised by coordinators, inspectors, door clerks

          7  and information clerks and interpreters.  Our point

          8  is that the people at the top, the coordinators

          9  should be given special training and have to pass

         10  the test.  The State Election Law says that all

         11  inspectors have to pass the test; however, if you

         12  look at the statistics, a lot of our inspectors have

         13  not passed the test.

         14                 So, we need a whole new system of

         15  education for adult education and it starts with

         16  getting a core of coordinators who can then bring in

         17  people and educate the people below them.

         18  Look, we asked for a video, a poll worker training

         19  video, it was done.  The City of New York gave the

         20  Board of Elections the money to do that and the

         21  video was distributed. But from my observation, many

         22  of the people who worked the polls this past

         23  November, had not even seen or understood that

         24  video.

         25                 So, we've got to have a system where
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          2  you bring in the coordinators early on, you don't

          3  wait until August, you bring in the coordinators

          4  early on and get them trained so that they know the

          5  law and can train the groups.  And the whole system

          6  of managing these poll workers, you've got two types

          7  of poll workers as you know.  Those who come through

          8  the party designation and those who come through the

          9  Board of Elections, that check- off.

         10                 We had some poll workers in this last

         11  election system who got their jobs from the internet

         12  from Craig's (phonetic) list and they volunteered to

         13  be in that stand- by pool and they worked.  They

         14  weren't trained.  It was on the job training and

         15  that works if you've got inspectors who will train

         16  the people on the job.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: You think there

         18  should be an age limit to election day workers.

         19                 MS. SHEA: Yes, even though I'm a

         20  senior citizen and well beyond the age, I think it

         21  won't work out.  I mean you could put an age limit

         22  of 80 say, but you run into all kinds of labor laws

         23  and age discrimination so --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'm not on

         25  zoning.  I'm on the full Committee.

                                                            9

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Your mic was

          3  not turned on.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, all right.

          5  I'm sorry, there is a lot going on.

          6                 MS. SHEA: Okay. I think you're going

          7  to get into trouble.  We've explored labor laws and

          8  age discrimination and --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: But the

         10  competency test would be --

         11                 MS. SHEA: A competency test, I mean

         12  there are people in their 80's, 90's who can do the

         13  job.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         15                 MS. SHEA: And there are people in

         16  their 50's who cannot do the job, so --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  I need to

         18  go and if I can get that meeting over, I can get

         19  more people into this meeting.  If I can get that

         20  meeting over I can get full members into this

         21  meeting.  So I am going to take a five- minute break

         22  and go vote and round up some members so we can get

         23  the candidates out of here so excuse me.

         24                 Thank you Ms. Shea for coming out.  I

         25  appreciate your time and your being here this
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          2  morning.  So we will take a five- minute break.

          3                      (Recess was taken).

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  This is a Rules,

          5  Privileges and Elections Committee hearing.  Again

          6  my name is Leroy Comrie.  Today we would like to

          7  proceed.

          8                 We have two candidates for

          9  reappointment to the Board of Elections.  They are

         10  Nancy Mottola Schacher, the Republican Commissioner

         11  from Kings County and Terrence Charles O'Connor, the

         12  Democratic Commissioner from Queens County.  Both

         13  candidates are being considered for appointment to

         14  new four- year terms beginning January 2005 and

         15  ending December 31, 2008.

         16                 For the record, the candidates of

         17  each parties recommendation -- The candidates of

         18  each party's recommendation submitted for each

         19  candidate were properly formatted and submitted. The

         20  certificates were properly filed and submitted.

         21                 The Board of Elections consists of

         22  ten commissioners, two from each of the City's five

         23  counties, who are directly appointed by the New York

         24  City Council.  Not more than two commissioners shall

         25  be registered voters of the same county.  Each
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          2  commissioner serves a term of four years or until a

          3  successor is appointed.  Commissioners shall be

          4  registered voters from each of the major parties in

          5  the county for which they are appointed.

          6                 The Board and its commissioners are

          7  responsible for the maintenance and administration

          8  of voting records and elections. The Board also

          9  exercises quasi- judicial powers by conducting

         10  hearings to validate nominating petitions of

         11  candidates for nomination to elective office.

         12                 The Board is required to make an

         13  annual report of its affairs and proceedings to the

         14  New York City Council, once every twelve months and

         15  no later than the last day of January in any

         16  calendar year.

         17                 Okay, if you could both raise your

         18  right hands and be sworn in please.

         19                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you solemnly

         20  swear or affirm the testimony you are about to give

         21  the Committee is the truth, the whole truth and

         22  nothing but the truth.

         23                 MS. SCHACHER: I do.

         24                 MR. O'CONNOR: I do.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Will you please
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          2  state your name for the record.

          3                 MS. SCHACHER: My name is Nancy

          4  Mottola Schacher, Kings County.

          5                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

          6                 MR. O'CONNOR: (Microphone not turned

          7  on).

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Can you turn on

          9  the microphone for Mr. O'Connor?

         10                 MR. O'CONNOR: Terrence Charles

         11  O'Connor, Queens County.

         12                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: They are both

         14  properly sworn in.

         15                 We are presently joined by Minority

         16  Leader James Oddo, behind you and our Council Member

         17  Lew Fidler from Brooklyn, Council Member Christine

         18  Quinn from Manhattan, Council Member Diana Reyna and

         19  today is her birthday, Council Member Robert Jackson

         20  is in the audience.

         21                 Okay, if we could ask the Sergeant-

         22  at- Arms to call it.  We have also been joined by

         23  Council Member Joel Rivera.

         24                 Do you have an opening statement Ms.

         25  Schacher?
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          2                 MS. SCHACHER: Well, I think I would

          3  like to continue as Commissioner of Elections to

          4  help and support my community.  As an attorney, I

          5  feel an obligation to do this.  The most important

          6  thing I would strive for is additional registration,

          7  a mass media thing to get people to register,

          8  citizens and non- citizens.  That's what I would

          9  like to do.  And, of course instill in our

         10  citizenship the concept of the most wonderful

         11  country in the world that we live in and that their

         12  duty and their right is to vote to select those

         13  women and men who best serve the community in

         14  whatever capacity they choose to serve.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.

         16                 Mr. O'Connor, do you have an opening

         17  statement that you would like to share with us?

         18                 MR. O'CONNOR:  Other than to thank

         19  you for your courtesy, no.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'm sorry.

         21                 MR. O'CONNOR: Other than to thank you

         22  for your courtesy, no. Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay. Thank you.

         24                 You heard the testimony from the

         25  Women's City Club of New York regarding they don't
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          2  believe that you can be able to replace the voting

          3  machines by 2006, do you agree with that assessment?

          4                 MS. SCHACHER: Yes, I do agree with

          5  that assessment. We have been waiting patiently for

          6  the state legislature to select a machine.  The

          7  commissioners have reviewed about 12 of these

          8  machines.  They are going to be costly.  They range

          9  from $5,000 to $7,000 for each machine.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: For each machine?

         11                 MS. SCHACHER: Yes. And you have to

         12  consider the complimentary things that goes with it.

         13

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

         15                 MS. SCHACHER: It is something that we

         16  have to enforce because the Help America Vote Act

         17  insists that we do it. We have to do it.  It has to

         18  be done.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.

         20                 Council Member Reyna.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: How are you Ms.

         22  Schacher Thank you for being here.

         23                 MS. SCHACHER: Thank you for having

         24  me.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  And for all of
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          2  your service. I wanted to just ask you, the new

          3  machines that have been presented to perhaps

          4  yourself, part of the Board, are they ADA compliance

          5  for the hearing impaired or the visually impaired?

          6                 MS. SCHACHER: Yes ma'am.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And what type

          8  of technology?

          9                 MS. SCHACHER:  You got me there.

         10  It's like the touch system on the ATM machines, it's

         11  akin to that.  And the great part about the pros and

         12  cons, because pro, if you make an error and you wish

         13  to change the name of the candidate you can do it.

         14  But can you imaging how much time it's going to be

         15  lost in that booth with people doing this and the

         16  waiting line?  It is a wonderful nuance.  Whether it

         17  will work efficiently. Wait and see.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: So they haven't

         19  selected a model?

         20                 MS. SCHACHER: We have reviewed about

         21  a dozen of these models.  It is now up to the State

         22  legislature to select the model that they think is

         23  appropriate for the State of New York.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And how much

         25  longer do you think?  Is there a deadline?
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          2                 MS. SCHACHER: Only God knows.  There

          3  is a deadline to implement pursuant to HAVA as you

          4  know.  The deadline is the year 2006 and we are

          5  going to be pressured to educate the public, to

          6  educate them in a shorter time.  We had hoped that

          7  we had a plan in point if we had the machine this

          8  year to use maybe two or three boroughs who were

          9  able to use the machine to see how it worked and

         10  possibly make adjustments, corrections --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: A trial run.

         12                 MS. SCHACHER: -- A trial project, but

         13  unfortunately we have not been so lucky.  But we

         14  were able to get out a massive, as you know,

         15  election this year and I am very proud of the

         16  Borough of Brooklyn.  We did a wonderful job under

         17  great hazards.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Well thank you

         19  and I wanted to just ask you.  Do you find it

         20  beneficial that on election, whether it's primary or

         21  election day to have a monitor at every poll site

         22  that will teach almost like a demonstrative video

         23  tape of how to go into the booth, whether it's our

         24  old machines or new technology, just to instruct

         25  people as they are waiting on line to know how to
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          2  vote.

          3                 MS. SCHACHER: Like every improvement,

          4  it involves some disturbment.  That would be the

          5  ideal state.  But understand that we have over four

          6  million voters in the City of New York.  If we took

          7  time out to do that with each vote it might be a

          8  little bit difficult, but there is nothing that says

          9  it can't be done.  It can be done, but I would vote

         10  against it.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: You would.  Why

         12  is that.

         13                 MS. SCHACHER: Because you create a

         14  delay.  The voter, we have to ascribe some

         15  responsibility to the voter.  He or she should know

         16  when they get there who they want to vote for and

         17  why.  This would just be an added feature in trying

         18  to teach the voter before he gets into the booth.  I

         19  don't even know how it would work.  I could say that

         20  we could try.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I know that I

         22  personally have assisted seniors get to the polling

         23  site and as much as they insist that they know what

         24  they are doing, once they go into that booth --

         25                 MS. SCHACHER: It gets difficult.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Yes.  And so

          3  they lose their vote, perhaps they take the lever

          4  and push it forward and forget that they can't just

          5  push it back again in one move, in one motion, so

          6  therefore they lose in casting their vote, where if

          7  there was a monitor just displaying this

          8  demonstrative video.

          9                 MS. SCHACHER: Well, we do have as you

         10  know, we have some kind of plaque cards that

         11  indicate how to use the voting system. So, you would

         12  rather have a live person there, a monitor in person

         13  to teach rather than they look there reading the

         14  plaque card?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Yes.

         16                 MS. SCHACHER: Well, we can try it.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I appreciate

         18  your honesty.

         19                 MS. SCHACHER: Anything is subject to

         20  change.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: And we all know

         22  that there is room for improvement.

         23                 MS. SCHACHER:  In New York City it

         24  becomes a big problem.  We've got so many voters,

         25  thank God. But they should at least learn at least a
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          2  little something before they get there.  We do send

          3  literature out.  What the Board had decided to do at

          4  one time, again if we had the money, have these

          5  mobile transport demonstrations in the communities,

          6  at fairs, where ever invited. Because we are going

          7  to have to do that anyway.  When the new machines

          8  come in, we are going to have to get out there and

          9  do some of these things because it's going to be a

         10  hazard at the poll site if we don't.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Yes.  Thank you

         12  so much Ms. Schacher.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: We have been

         14  joined by Council Member Yvette Clarke from

         15  Brooklyn, Majority Leader Joel Rivera from the Bronx

         16  and Deputy Majority Leader Bill Perkins.  Council

         17  Member Perkins you had a question?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         19  very much Mr. Chair and welcome to both of these

         20  Commissioners from the New York City Board of

         21  Elections.

         22                 You known the Board is under a lot of

         23  pressure, especially after major elections like

         24  we've just had and there is always these cries for

         25  changes and cries for reform.  I understand the
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          2  Mayor has appointed Commissioner Cardozo, as Corp.

          3  Counsel to a special reform commission, an effort

          4  that he is setting up.

          5                 Are you aware of this and do you have

          6  any thoughts about the reforms that the Mayor may be

          7  proposing.

          8                 MS. SCHACHER: Let me say this.  I

          9  dislike the term reform and change.  I think

         10  everyone and everything can be improved.  There is a

         11  lot of room to do more than we are doing. But

         12  understand we are kind of held back with not having

         13  certain resources known as money and we do the best

         14  we can with the employees we have.  And of course we

         15  have an excellent staff now at the Board at 42

         16  Broadway. They do their utmost.  They have striven

         17  so to improve even the voting system this past term,

         18  the general elections, you know.  They worked hard.

         19  They went to the various boroughs to reteach and

         20  teach coordinators how to act, what to do and how to

         21  do it.  These things are good. These improvement are

         22  good.  Whether or not we need change, I don't know

         23  what kind of change he anticipates, I haven't heard

         24  about it.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you
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          2  foresee the need for any changes at the Board or

          3  reforms.  I know you said you don't like the word

          4  reforms.

          5                 MS. SCHACHER: We have labored hard

          6  and long, especially over the registration forms.

          7  We have done, I think, an excellent job, but listen,

          8  we are always acceptable to a change by way of

          9  improvement, why not.  I don't know what that could

         10  be, because I think they are perfect.  But, I worked

         11  with the other nine Commissioners and with the staff

         12  at the Board and we have done our utmost considering

         13  all aspects of everything.  And of course Marjorie

         14  is always there.  She's the public and they have a

         15  right to include their comments on things that we do

         16  and we welcome their opinions.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Some members have

         18  to leave and they would like to vote now.  Council

         19  Member Reyna, can you tell us your vote.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: I apologize.  I

         21  just wanted to commend the two candidates here

         22  before us with their great service and their

         23  continued great service and their interest to

         24  provide the City of New York with all of their

         25  knowledge. I vote aye, in favor of both positions.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Thank you ma'am.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

          4  Rivera.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you very

          6  much Chairman. I also want to congratulate the two

          7  of you for this appointment. I think that democracy

          8  is the most important thing that we have within our

          9  Nation, within our beings and you have pivotal jobs

         10  to make sure that this democracy can move forward in

         11  a very effective manner.  So congratulations.  I

         12  vote aye.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         14  Perkins, you still have the floor.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Yes, are

         16  either one of the candidates open to allow to speak

         17  to these questions?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:

         20  Commissioners, I'm just trying to flush out some of

         21  these concerns.  My Committee is Government and

         22  Operations Committee and we will be having an

         23  oversight hearing with regard to the Board of

         24  Elections and I just want to just sort of touch

         25  bases.  Some of the concerns that you might have,
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          2  that we might have in order to make the system more

          3  responsive and effective for the voters of the City.

          4    So if you have any concerns.

          5                 Mr. O'CONNOR: I apologize Mr.

          6  Perkins, I thought that my colleague was questioned

          7  first and then I would go after.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, you're

          9  right that's what's the practice, but I wasn't sure

         10  either.  But, whatever is appropriate Mr. Chairman.

         11                 MR. O'CONNOR:  I will speak to both

         12  answers. In regards to what Council Member Reyna

         13  said, I believe that that video screen at the

         14  polling site showing a video over and over again of

         15  how, in fact to operate the machine would probably

         16  be a good idea.  It would be a very, very expensive

         17  idea and obviously we don't have the money for it

         18  now, but were the money available, I would certainly

         19  think long and hard in favor of that.

         20                 In regard to reform, I'm not sure

         21  what you mean by that Council Member Perkins, but

         22  improvement I think would be something that

         23  certainly we are always looking to improve and the

         24  Commissioners always want to have the best people

         25  possible. Anybody who does not do their job and who
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          2  steps out of line, we have a disciplinary proceeding

          3  for them and I know in Queens, we have gotten rid of

          4  quite a few people who just have not come up to

          5  standards and we are always looking to improve our

          6  staff.  However, as the Council is well aware, we

          7  have been crying to you for years now that we need

          8  more money. We need to pay people.  You can't pay a

          9  technician $23,000 a year and expect these 40- year

         10  old machines to function perfectly.  It's just not

         11  physically and humanly possible.  You're asking us

         12  to do something and I believe we've done a dam find

         13  job of it in the past few years.  The break- down,

         14  of course these machines are going to break down.

         15                 As I said in my letter to the

         16  newspapers, after the elections, which none of them

         17  have the nerve to print by the way, you don't ask

         18  the cops to drive around in 40- year- old police

         19  cars, you don't ask the firemen to put out a fire

         20  with a 40- year- old fire engine and you are asking

         21  us to conduct an election with a 40- year old

         22  machine.

         23                 None of the last two Administrations

         24  that I've been involved with, I've only been on the

         25  Board since 1999, have spent one red cent to improve
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          2  the election process.  They have not given us any

          3  incentives, they have not given us any money to buy

          4  new machines and now the HAVA is totally stalled in

          5  the legislature.

          6                 When you ask are we going to be ready

          7  to conduct an election on new electronic voting

          8  machines in 2006, I doubt it very much.  If it were

          9  to happen it would be a miracle and it would be

         10  performed by the people who run the Board of

         11  Elections, and you are asking an awful lot to think

         12  that this might happen.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         14  very much Commissioner.  Let me just ask one more

         15  question if you don't mind Mr. Chair.

         16                 Number one, the question of reform

         17  comes to me in terms of the reports that the Mayor

         18  has set up, has appointed Cardozo, the Corp.

         19  Counsel, to look at necessary reforms at the Board

         20  of Elections.  And so that's why I was wondering

         21  what was on the agenda, if you were aware of what

         22  that meant.

         23                 MS. SCHACHER:  Well, we welcome him

         24  coming to the Board and interrogating all of us if

         25  he feels he has to.  I have not heard of any agenda
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          2  to date have you?

          3                 MR. O'CONNOR: I don't know what the

          4  agenda is, but it seems to me the agenda is clear

          5  that the Mayor wants to take over the Board of

          6  Elections and run the show exactly the way he wants

          7  to run it for his own purposes.  And he didn't

          8  appoint Mr. Cardozo because he's an independent,

          9  free- thinking person.  He appointed him because

         10  he's his lawyer.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I just want

         12  to make it clear for the record, the Council did

         13  recognize the concerns that you raisee Commissioner

         14  regarding a pay equity and we did champion that

         15  cause to the last drop, but because the Mayor had

         16  insisted that this money would not be used, door pay

         17  equity, it was not able to be put into the budget.

         18  So I want you to understand --

         19                 MS. SCHACHER: I didn't mean to say

         20  that there was a Council, I just meant to say that

         21  you folks were aware of our problems.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: We're aware

         23  of that aspect of the problem.  We tried to address

         24  it.  But with regards to other aspects of the

         25  problem, particularly in terms of the technical
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          2  needs that you might have had for your computers or

          3  for your extended phone services or such, our

          4  understanding is again that it is the Administration

          5  that was negotiating with your format and that's

          6  where those capital dollars would be coming from.

          7                 So for instance there was like $25

          8  million dollars or such that was discovered to be at

          9  OMB's capital budget, it's aside for the Board of

         10  Elections that supposedly was not used over the last

         11  few years, even as a request from the Board was

         12  being made for money, for capital improvement money.

         13    The only money that was being used was money for

         14  furnishing according to the press.  And I am

         15  wondering if there is any further discussions with

         16  you and the board members with the Administration

         17  about moving that money towards the needs that you

         18  had identified that to some extent made it more

         19  difficult for you to have a successful election in

         20  November.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Before you

         22  answer, Speaker Miller would like to vote, he has to

         23  go downstairs.

         24                 SPEAKER MILLER: Aye.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.
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          2                 And also Council Member Quinn would

          3  like to vote because we're running up against a hard

          4  deadline here. I mean they are good questions, but

          5  you know members are bouncing in and out.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I'm sorry I

          7  have to go outside to a press conference.  I vote

          8  aye.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         10  Clarke would like to vote.  He's going to answer the

         11  question but --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Oh, I have two

         13  questions too.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay, well.  All

         15  right, so if you could answer that question then.

         16  I'm sorry Mr. O'Connor.

         17                 MR. O'CONNOR: I'm not aware of this

         18  $25 million dollars and I haven't seen the press.

         19  So, I have been on vacation and actually quite

         20  frankly I don't read the press that often because I

         21  find the reports are so full of inaccuracies that if

         22  I want to read fiction, you know I'll read James

         23  Michener or something like that.  But the $25

         24  million I honestly don't know. If it's there, we

         25  haven't used it, then shame on us.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me just

          3  be clear, it is not that you haven't used it, it was

          4  in OMB.  OMB recognized that it was there from, I

          5  think the Sequoia, when money was put in there for

          6  the Sequoia contracts some years ago.  It sat there

          7  on the capital line and it was discovered to be in

          8  there recently and it was controversial because

          9  apparently Richard Ravits (phonetic), Executive

         10  Director, had been asking for money and money and

         11  money was not provided.  It's not that it's in your

         12  hands, it's in OMB's hands. I just wondered if there

         13  had been any further discussion about that money so

         14  that it could be used at further request that you'll

         15  make.

         16                 MS. SCHACHER: That came to light

         17  while you were away.  That came to light, I heard

         18  about it too.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You know

         20  about.  Thank you ma'am.

         21                 MR. O'CONNOR: We're going to be

         22  meeting in about an hour and one- half and you can

         23  be sure that I'm going to ask where that money is.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You ask about

         25  that because that is a significant amount of money
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          2  that could be used to address some of the capital

          3  needs that would identified in your budget request

          4  that were not provided by the Office of Management

          5  and Budget, even as that money was specifically

          6  earmarked for Board of Elections capital needs.

          7                 MR. O'CONNOR: I'm glad you brought

          8  that to my attention. Thank you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         11  Clarke.

         12                 Are you going to vote?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you Mr.

         14  Chair.  I want to just raise two, actually three

         15  questions.  The first being to vote candidates, well

         16  whoever can answer the very first question because

         17  in listening to the conversation with Council Member

         18  Reyna, the issue of meeting the deadline for the

         19  modernizing of our voting system, both of you seem

         20  to believe that it doesn't look like we will be able

         21  to meet the deadline.  I wanted to know of any

         22  penalties that could arise as a result of not

         23  meeting a deadline.

         24                 MS. SCHACHER: Well, we won't get any

         25  money from the Federal Government.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So there's a

          3  very significant --

          4                 MS. SCHACHER: That's a big kink in

          5  the armor there. But I'm optimistic.  I feel that we

          6  are going to get the machine. When are we going to

          7  get it?  Well, I don't know.  The only added problem

          8  to that would be, again, instructions, instructing

          9  the public and instructing the workers at the Board

         10  and at the poll sites just what to do.  This takes a

         11  lot of time. We have done this so heavily this past

         12  year educating our employees to the point where they

         13  are saying, listen I've heard this before, do I have

         14  to listen to it again.  And we go, yes you do.  And

         15  we have done that much.  But again we need the

         16  machines.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: So would you

         18  say that we are in the process, or have already have

         19  considered for the contingency plan, should at the

         20  last minute --

         21                 MS. SCHACHER: We'll have to use the

         22  machines. That's been working fine.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: You're talking

         24  about the old machines.

         25                 MS. SCHACHER: The old machines, the
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          2  old Shoup.  The old Shoup that we have in Brooklyn

          3  have been working fine.  Yes, about 32 broke down

          4  this past election but they had a mechanic out there

          5  fixing them within the hour.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay.  When I

          7  say contingency plans I mean in terms of the

          8  transition.

          9                 MS. SCHACHER: Not that I know of.  I

         10  can't envision any, except getting the machine.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Well, when we

         12  get the machine, the concern is going to be about,

         13  you know, how we get everyone who is a part of the

         14  system up to speed on utilizing it. Right?

         15                 MS. SCHACHER: That's the real

         16  problem.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Right.  So

         18  here's what I'm talking about.  I'm talking about

         19  being pro- active.  You know what I'm saying?  Not

         20  waiting until --

         21                 MS. SCHACHER: How can we be pro-

         22  active when we don't have the machine in front of

         23  us.  How are we going to teach without showing.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Have you

         25  already selected a model?  Do you anticipate what
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          2  your model would look like?

          3                 MS. SCHACHER:  Very frankly, we've

          4  reviewed about a dozen of them.  They all look

          5  alike.  One may be less expensive than the other.

          6  One may have more little neons than the other. They

          7  are all about the same.  The selection is left to

          8  the State Legislature.  We have been pushing and

          9  pushing.  We've had all sorts of meetings, those in

         10  Albany and here in New York City. Again, it's

         11  dependent on the legislature.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay.  The

         13  other issue or concern about videos, how to utilize

         14  the machine.  I don't think it is so much to be able

         15  to put up a video that depicts what the ballot

         16  necessarily looks like, but the actual mechanics of

         17  utilizing the machine.  That's been an ongoing issue

         18  and concern. I think that when you talk about a

         19  video, it should not necessarily be a video for

         20  election day.  I think people can be educated along

         21  the way.  And I think that there are many municipal

         22  entities as well as state entities within our

         23  society that already has video screens and you watch

         24  other types of videos while you are waiting there

         25  that it may be just a matter of producing something
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          2  that could be utilized and piggy- backed off of the

          3  systems that already exists, while people are

          4  waiting for various services in the City of New York

          5  or even sent to senior citizen homes when they are

          6  watching video where they can actually see a video

          7  prior to an election on how to utilize the machine.

          8  So, I just wanted you to consider that, just

          9  thinking outside of the box.

         10                 MS. SCHACHER: It's an excellent idea,

         11  nursing homes especially.  Okay.

         12                 MR. O'CONNOR: We have a training

         13  video what you are talking about is a part of that.

         14  But what you are saying is an excellent idea to just

         15  take that particular part out and make it a video.

         16  The public access stations all across the City have

         17  been very good to us in terms of running that

         18  particular video within the few days or weeks before

         19  the primary and then again before the general

         20  elections.  But I know what you are saying, when you

         21  are waiting in line in the bank or something,

         22  instead of watching CNN, maybe before the election

         23  they could show that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  There are a

         25  lot of outlets that I am aware of where you actually
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          2  are waiting and they have a video screen available.

          3  We could probably use that.

          4                 MS. SCHACHER: Maybe we could do that,

          5  community centers, we can use it at fairs and the

          6  like.  We have a Republican Club, when they have a

          7  sale on Atlantic Avenue we have the table out there,

          8  we distribute literature, we even register passers-

          9  by, but that is an excellent idea.  I like that very

         10  much.  But understand too we have improved the video

         11  for learning process by introducing to them the HAVA

         12  requirements on identification requirements.  We

         13  amended that, so we had that in place.  The only

         14  thing that we are waiting for is the machine.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE:  Okay.  It's

         16  just the wider we can distribute it, the more we can

         17   --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I'm sorry.

         19  Council Member Oddo has to vote.  He has to go into

         20  a meeting.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Oddo.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And Council

         23  Member Perkins, as well.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. O'Connor, I

         25  appreciate your frankness in your response.  And to
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          2  my colleague Bill Perkins, ten years ago I was in

          3  this room as a staff member to then Council Member

          4  John Fusco, who was a member of the Government

          5  Operations Committee at that time and it's the first

          6  time I heard the name Sequoia and it's ten years

          7  later and I concur with the two witnesses that it's

          8  going to be later as in sooner before we have the

          9  new voting machine. It's an embarrassment for

         10  government on all levels that this continues to

         11  happen.  But maybe with your leadership Bill, as the

         12  head of the Committee now you can help bring that

         13  about sooner rather than later.  To the two

         14  witnesses, well done.  I vote aye.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Council Member

         16  Perkins, your vote.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         18  very much.  Just to say first of all I vote aye on

         19  both.  I also want to say I would like a copy of the

         20  letter that you sent to the press, if you don't

         21  mind.

         22                 MR. O'CONNOR:  No problem.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I'd

         24  appreciate that.  I'm not as pessimistic as my

         25  colleague is with respect to moving forward.  In
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          2  fact, I thought all we need to do is to get a

          3  Governor that understands the needs of the people

          4  and a State Senate that understands the needs the

          5  people then I am sure we'll be able to get what we

          6  need for the people.  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you

          8  Governor Perkins, Council Member Perkins.  I think

          9  that's it for questions.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I'm sorry.  I

         11  just wanted to question Mr. O'Connor.  There is an

         12  issue around conflict of interest and I'm concerned

         13  about it, because it seems as though there are a

         14  number of information in reports over several years

         15  that has not been provided to the Conflicts of

         16  Interest Board and this is an area of public

         17  service.

         18                 While I recognize that this doesn't

         19  speak to your ability to serve as a Commissioner and

         20  function on a Board, it does speak to something

         21  about being a public servant.  Because all of us who

         22  are here as public servants must complete this on a

         23  yearly basis.  And we must make it a part of a

         24  practice for like going on four years now they have

         25  been challenged with getting this information from
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          2  you and I notice that there is a deadline for

          3  submitting this material coming up within the next

          4  couple of days.

          5                 Do you anticipate being able to make

          6  sure that your information is complete?

          7                 MR. O'CONNOR: This was just brought

          8  to my attention recently.  I don't know what you are

          9  talking about, that they have been asking me for

         10  four years.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Well there is

         12  information within our briefings that talks about a

         13  letter that was sent to you on the seventeenth 2004

         14  that speaks to a lot of specifics with respect to

         15  your disclosure.  I am asking whether you are

         16  prepared because obviously with these reports,

         17  dating back to 2000.  And I heard in your testimony

         18  that you came on board as Commissioner in 1999.

         19  That means you've only supplied one year since you

         20  have been a Commissioner.   That doesn't bode well.

         21                 And I think that it's important that

         22  the information that is requested be addressed.  And

         23  so I'm asking whether you are in a position to do

         24  that because that is critical I think to being a

         25  public servant in the City of New York.
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          2                 MR. O'CONNOR: Yes ma'am, I will

          3  address that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you.

          5  I'm going to have to run Mr. Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Just to allay

          7  your concern Council Member before you leave, there

          8  are a series of technical issues Mr. O'Connor, that

          9  I have for almost every candidate to resolve the

         10  technical issues by the deadlines required.

         11  Clearly, I was getting ready to do that before you

         12  asked the question.  I tend as Chair to let members

         13  ask questions first but maybe I need to change that

         14  and be as selfish as some other Chairs around here

         15  and do all the questions on their time.

         16                 Clearly, he has to clear up these

         17  issues and I am sure that Mr. O'Connor will, with

         18  his record of public service and clearly your

         19  statement about being of public services is well

         20  understood by me.  Since I've been a Community Board

         21  Member, I've had to fill out the forms in the

         22  Conflicts of Interest Statement and it's an

         23  important document that we have to respect and I am

         24  going to formally ask him in a minute to affirm that

         25  he will meet these technical standards.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Okay.  Thank

          3  you.  I just wanted to bring it to our attention

          4  because I think it's an institution we need to be

          5  able to understand the importance of something like

          6  this.  I don't want it to be overlooked and it seems

          7  like its been overlooked in some form or fashion

          8  over the last four years and I would be concerned if

          9  there were a pattern of not responding to this

         10  because we have an obligation again as public

         11  service and we have also vetted other candidates,

         12  and this is an extraordinary case.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  It's not as

         14  extraordinary as it seems to be. We've been vetting

         15  issues and trying to work with candidates on many

         16  similar issues in order for them to be public

         17  servants.  So, at this point I'll ask the questions

         18  formally and then we can do the vote, so.  It's not

         19  an issue that's been going on for four years, it's

         20  an issue that my counselor tells me, the Conflicts

         21  of Interest Board just sent a letter so, he has a

         22  certain technical time to respond to it.

         23                 So, the first question is to you is

         24  Mr. O'Connor, just for your affirmation, that you

         25  will affirmatively deal with any matters regarding
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          2  the Conflicts of Interest Board that will have been

          3  addressed to you and that you will send copies of

          4  all those materials to the Board and forward it to

          5  Stu Goldstein in our Council Appointments Office.

          6                 MR. O'CONNOR:  When I receive that, I

          7  will, yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  And the

          9  information regarding your position in the Catholic

         10  Lawyers Guild will be provided to the Conflicts

         11  Board, you will send a copy to us as well?

         12                 MR. O'CONNOR: I have no idea what

         13  information they request, but whatever they want to

         14  know, I'll give them.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  And also

         16  you have some parking summonses that are outstanding

         17  that have to be cleared up and I'm sure that you'll

         18  send a copy of that Resolution to our office.

         19                 MR. O'CONNOR: I'm not aware of any

         20  such thing, but when I am made aware of it, whatever

         21  it is, it will be dealt with.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  So you

         23  will clear up all those three items and let the AIU

         24  Office know?

         25                 MR. O'CONNOR: Yes sir.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Thank you.  Any

          3  other questions?

          4                 Oh, I'm sorry Council Member Katz.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I just wanted to

          6  put my two cents in to this Committee that

          7  Commissioner O'Connor has been, I think an extremely

          8  qualified Commissioner on the Board of Elections.

          9  He is not only a constituent, our families have know

         10  each other a very long time and he is also a

         11  graduate of St. John's Law School like me.

         12  Regardless of all that I have no doubt that he will

         13  get the information that has been requested,

         14  especially now that the pressure of the Committee

         15  has been put on and it has been forthcoming.  I

         16  think that this information will get to us and I

         17  have assurances that the Commissioner will deliver

         18  it, but I also think that he has been a very

         19  qualified Commissioner over the last few years and

         20  has done his job outstanding as a representative of

         21  the Queens County on the Board of Elections.  So, I

         22  would like to just give my support to him, not only

         23  as a friend, but as a colleague and also as his

         24  Council Member.

         25                 MR. O'CONNOR: Thank you Council
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          2  Member Katz and now that this has been brought to my

          3  attention, I certainly will deal with it and I would

          4  also like to point out that my colleague is also a

          5  graduate of St. John's Law School.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Oh, okay, all

          7  right St Johns. I also want to, you know, it's been

          8  a strange day, but, I should have started by saying

          9  I reviewed both your records, you both served with

         10  high esteem in commendation from both your service

         11  record and being excellent members of the Board of

         12  Elections.  I remember that when the issue of the

         13  safety latches came up, you both were in favor of

         14  having them restored and I appreciate that.

         15                 Also, I think your records Ms.

         16  Schacher and Mr. O'Connor have been excellent.  You

         17  have definitely been diligent Commissioners and you

         18  care about what happens in the City in ensuring that

         19  people have the opportunity and a full opportunity

         20  to vote and I think you both well deserve

         21  reappointment and you've been both well qualified

         22  and shown a real commitment to service.

         23                 You know, the technical issues, just

         24  to let you know go through almost every hearing.  We

         25  want to just make sure that all i's are crossed and

                                                            44

          1  RULES, PRIVILEGES AND ELECTIONS

          2  all t's are dotted so that, you know, as far as the

          3  City and everyone is concerned.  So, almost every

          4  candidate we wind up having these clarification

          5  questions and I am sure that everyone will be in

          6  compliance.

          7                 Lou, did you have a question?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I've had the

          9  opportunity to watch both of you from the other side

         10  of the bench and I certainly have been impressed

         11  that both of you have taken the duties of your

         12  office very, very seriously, very diligently and

         13  very honestly and competently.  Some of the

         14  questions that you asked earlier Mr. O'Connor, just

         15  from what I have gleaned about your reputation

         16  should be of no concern to this Committee, but I

         17  will ask you this one question so that perhaps

         18  anyone who might have a concern can vote with a free

         19  conscience.

         20                 Do you know of any information that

         21  has not been disclosed will be disclosed, that would

         22  in any way provide a conflict of interest for you in

         23  the performance of your duties as an Election

         24  Commissioner?

         25                 MR. O'CONNOR: Absolutely not.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I didn't think

          3  so.  I think the fact that you said that on the

          4  record should make any of my colleagues who have any

          5  hesitation about voting to reconfirm you for another

          6  term as Commissioner, either at this Committee or

          7  later today this afternoon, should take you at your

          8  word and they should be fine with it and I guess we

          9  can vote now.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right, we'll

         11  finish the vote.  Is the Clerk there.  Oh, well the

         12  Counsel can do the vote. I'm sorry. Ed.

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Comrie

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Aye on both.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Clarke

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I am going to

         17  vote aye on both.  And again, just to raise that

         18  concern, I take into consideration my colleague from

         19  Brooklyn and certainly my colleagues from Queens are

         20  most familiar with your services, so I will vote aye

         21  on both and congratulate both of you on your

         22  appointment.

         23                 MR. O'CONNOR: Thank you.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Fidler

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thanks for
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          2  your willingness to do this again.  I vote aye on

          3  both.

          4                 MS. SCHACHER: Thank you.

          5                 MR. O'CONNOR: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Again, I want to

          7  thank both of you for your commitment to service.

          8  You've got one more?

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Katz

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Aye.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: I'm sorry, I

         12  thought you left. Okay.  I'm sorry.

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  By a vote of

         14  ten in the affirmative, none in the negative, both

         15  matters are adopted. Please sign the report.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: Okay.  We'll keep

         17  the roll open for the two members that are in the

         18  building, but are not here yet. So with that I want

         19  to call the meeting part to close.  I want to thank

         20  again Ms. Schacher and Terry O'Connor for their

         21  commitment and their diligence and being excellent

         22  appointees and I'm glad that you've decided to

         23  continue your commitment to public service. I know

         24  it's not easy being a Commissioner for the Board of

         25  Elections but you've done well and I'm sure you'll
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          2  continue to do well for the City in the future.

          3  Thank you.

          4                 MS. SCHACHER: Thank you very much.

          5                 MR. O'CONNOR: Thank you.

          6                 MS. SCHACHER: And a happy

          7  Thanksgiving to you all.

          8                 (Hearing adjourned 12:20 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, LENORE NAGLE, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 23rd day of November 2004.
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